
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

TAMPA DIVISION 

JOSE TROCHE, on behalf of  
himself and others similarly situated, 

  Plaintiff,      

v.         CASE NO.:   

HOGAN’S BRIDGE, LLC, a Florida 
Limited Liability Company,  
and CHRISTINE E. HOGAN, 

  Defendants. 
_____________________________________/ 

WAGE THEFT COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 Plaintiff, JOSE TROCHE (“Plaintiff”), on behalf of himself and others similarly 

situated, hereby sues the Defendant, HOGAN’S BRIDGE, LLC, a Florida limited 

liability company (“Hogan’s Bridge”), and CHRISTINE E. HOGAN (“Hogan”) 

(collectively, “Defendants”) and alleges as follows: 

JURISDICTION, VENUE AND PARTIES 

1.  This is an action brought under the Fair Labor Standards Act, as 

amended, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) (“FLSA”). Accordingly, this Court has subject-matter 

jurisdiction.  

 2.  Venue is proper within the Middle District of Florida because a 

substantial part of the events giving rise to this claim arose here. 

3.  At all times material, Plaintiff was a resident of Hernando County, 

Florida. 
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 4.  At all times material, Defendant Hogan’s Bridge was/is a Florida limited 

corporation registered with the Florida Division of Corporations to conduct business 

in the State of Florida, with a principal place of business at 12415 Kildeer Road, 

Weeki Wachee, FL 34614.  

 5.  At all times material, Defendant, Hogan, was/is a resident of Hernando 

County, Florida. 

 6.  The INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE (“IRS”) will be notified of the 

filing of this Complaint in accordance with Subsection 7434(d) of the Internal 

Revenue Code, which provides that “[a]ny person bringing an action under 

Subsection [7434](a) shall provide a copy of the complaint to the IRS upon the filing 

of such complaint with the court.” 26 U.S.C. § 7434(d).   

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

 7.  Defendant Hogan’s Bridge is in business primarily engaged in the care 

of the sick or the aged.  

 8.  Defendant Hogan is the President and Manager of Hogan’s Bridge.  In 

that position, Hogan exercises significant control over the company’s operations, has 

the power to hire and fire employees, the power to determine salaries, the 

responsibility to maintain employment records and has operational control over 

significant aspects of the company’s day-to-day functions. 

 9.  Defendants are employers as defined by the Fair Labor Standards Act, 

as amended, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), et seq. (“FLSA”).   

10.  At all material times, Defendants were an enterprise covered by the 
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FLSA, and as defined by 29 U.S.C. §203(r) and 203(s). 

  11.  Plaintiff was engaged in interstate commerce during his employment 

with Defendants.     

 12.  Plaintiff was employed by Defendants as a personal support 

coordinator from June 2016 through his termination date of November 10, 2017.  

During this time period, Plaintiff regularly worked more than 40 hours per workweek. 

 13.  Defendants misclassified Plaintiff as an independent contractor, but in 

reality he was an employee under the applicable laws and regulations.  

14.  Plaintiff has been required to retain the undersigned counsel to 

represent him in this action and is obligated to pay them a reasonable fee for their 

services.  

COUNT I 
OVERTIME – FLSA (BOTH DEFENDANTS) 

 15.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in 

Paragraphs 1 to 14 as if fully restated herein. 

16.  This action is brought under the FLSA to recover unpaid overtime 

compensation owed to Plaintiff and all others similarly situated who are or were 

employed by Defendants as personal support coordinators who worked more than 

40 hours per workweek and were subject to the same unlawful pay practices.   

17.  Plaintiff and others similarly situated were employees of Defendants 

under the FLSA. 

18.  Defendants failed to pay proper overtime compensation to Plaintiff or 

other similarly situated personal support coordinators.    
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19.  Defendants failed to comply with the FLSA because Plaintiff, and other 

similarly situated employees, were regularly required to work in excess of forty (40) 

hours a workweek were not paid overtime compensation as required by the FLSA. 

20.  The additional persons who may become Plaintiffs in this action are 

employees similarly situated to Plaintiff and who were required to work in excess of 

forty (40) hours a workweek but were not paid overtime compensation as required 

by the FLSA. 

21.  Defendants’ violations of the FLSA were knowing, willful and in 

reckless disregard of the rights of Plaintiff and all other similarly situated.  

Defendants did not have reasonable grounds for believing that their acts were not a 

violation of the FLSA. 

 22.  During the three (3) year period prior to filing this action, Defendants 

failed to pay Plaintiff and all other similarly situated employees overtime 

compensation for hours worked over forty (40) in a workweek. 

 23.  Defendants’ failure to pay Plaintiff and all other similarly situated 

employees overtime compensation for hours worked over forty (40) in any workweek 

constitutes a violation of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 207. 

 24.  Defendants’ violations of the FLSA were knowing, willful and in 

reckless disregard of the rights of Plaintiff and all other similarly situated. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests, on behalf of himself and all 

others similarly situated, that this Court issue an Order in Plaintiff’s favor and against 

both Defendants awarding damages in the amount of the unpaid overtime 
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compensation owed, awarding liquidated damages pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), 

awarding reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), 

awarding injunctive relief requiring Defendants to comply with the FLSA, and 

awarding all such other relief as the Court deems just and appropriate. 

COUNT II 
CIVIL DAMAGES FOR FRAUDULENT

FILING OF INFORMATION RETURNS UNDER 26 U.S.C. §7434 (a) 
(DEFENDANT HOGAN’S BRIDGE) 

25.  Plaintiff hereby incorporates by reference the allegations contained in 

Paragraphs 1 to 14 as if fully restated herein.  

26.  Plaintiff was an employee and not an independent contractor of 

Defendants, including Hogan’s Bridge.  Yet, Defendant Hogan’s Bridge issued 

Plaintiff an IRS Form 1099 for his remuneration.   

27.  As an employee of Defendant, Plaintiff was entitled to be compensated 

for his work.  Through this employment relationship, Defendant incurred a 

corresponding legal obligation to accurately report Plaintiff’s earnings to the IRS and 

the Social Security Administration for each tax year during which he worked, as well 

as to deduct applicable taxes from his wages. 

28.  Defendant had a legal duty not only to deduct applicable employment 

taxes from Plaintiff’s wages and to accurately report these wages to the IRS, but 

also to file correct information returns with the IRS on Plaintiff’s behalf. 

29.  Defendant did not withhold federal income tax from the remuneration 

listed in the Form 1099.  

30.  The IRS Form 1099 was an “information return” for purposes of 26 
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U.S.C. § 7434(a). 

31.  In the tax evasion context, fraud is the “willful attempt to evade tax.” 

See Beaver v. Commissioner, 55 T.C. 85, 92 (1970). The IRS itself considers a 

number of factors to make a showing of fraud, including understatement of income, 

inadequate records, mischaracterization of sources of income, and implausible or 

inconsistent explanations of behavior. See Spies v. United States, 317 U.S. 492, 499 

(1943). 

32.  Defendant voluntarily and intentionally issued Plaintiff an IRS Form 

1099 for the remuneration listed therein in an attempt to evade paying federal 

income tax on such sums, in violation of its legal duty to deduct applicable 

employment taxes from Plaintiff’s wages and to accurately report these wages to the 

IRS.   

33.  By intentionally issuing Plaintiff a false IRS Form 1099 in an attempt to 

evade paying federal income tax, Defendant willfully and fraudulently failed to 

properly record payments made to Plaintiff and to properly account for these 

payments to the IRS.   

34.   By engaging in the aforestated conduct, Defendant filed fraudulent 

information returns for Plaintiff with the IRS, in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7434(a). 

35. By reporting remuneration on a Form 1099, Defendant breached a 

number of its legal duties under the Internal Revenue Code, including avoiding 

payment of all of the applicable employment taxes that it was obligated to pay on 

their behalf. See 26 U.S.C. §§ 3102(a), 3402(a) (imposing a duty on employers to 
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deduct applicable taxes from their employees’ wages); 26 U.S.C. § 3401(d)(1) 

(defining “employer” under the IRC); (26 U.S.C. § 3121(a) (defining employee wages 

for the purpose of income taxation); 26 U.S.C. § 6051(a) (imposing a duty on 

employers to furnish employees with copies of their information returns); 26 U.S.C. § 

6721(a)(2)(B) (prescribing penalties for failure to file correct information returns). 

36.  Plaintiff has suffered harm as a result of Defendant’s wrongful conduct. 

37.  Under the Internal Revenue Code, “[if] any person willfully files a 

fraudulent information return with respect to payments purported to be made to any 

other person, such other person may bring a civil action for damages against the 

person so filing such return.”  26 U.S.C. § 7434(a). 

38.  For violations of 26 U.S.C. § 7434(a), the defendant shall be liable to 

the plaintiff in an amount equal to the greater of $5,000 or the sum of any actual 

damages sustained by the plaintiff as a proximate result of the filing of the fraudulent 

information return (including any costs attributable to resolving deficiencies asserted 

as a result of such filing), the costs of the action, and reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands: 

a)  Costs attributable to resolving deficiencies, civil damages of $5,000 for 

Plaintiff, and/or damages resulting from Plaintiff’s additional tax debt, and Plaintiff’s 

additional time and expenses associated with any necessary corrections; 

b)  That Defendant Hogan’s Bridge be ordered to take all the necessary 

steps to correct the information returns identified above; 

c)  All costs and attorney’s fees incurred by Plaintiff in prosecuting these 
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claims; and 

d)  For such further relief as this Court deems just and equitable. 

JURY TRIAL DEMAND

 Plaintiff demands trial by jury as to all issues. 

DATED this 23rd day of January, 2018. 

Respectfully submitted, 
WHITTEL & MELTON, LLC 
/s/ Jay P. Lechner 

     Jay P. Lechner, Esq. 
     Florida Bar No.: 0504351 
     One Progress Plaza 
     200 Central Avenue, #400 
     St. Petersburg, Florida 33701 
     Telephone: (727) 822-1111 
     Facsimile: (727) 898-2001   

      Service Email: 
Pleadings@theFLlawfirm.com 
lechnerj@theFLlawfirm.com
sonia@theFLlawfirm.com
Attorneys for Plaintiff 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I FURTHER CERTIFY that a copy hereof has been furnished via U.S. Mail to: 
Internal Revenue Service pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 7434(d) at 3848 W. Columbus Dr., 
Tampa, FL 33607. 

       /s/ Jay P. Lechner_________ 
        Attorney 
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